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1. Question 

With respect to the call S2R-OC-IP5-03-2015 'Intelligent freight wagon with predictive maintenance'... there are 

three topics mentioned in the call: 

1. Cargo condition monitoring technologies 

2. Wagon design 

3. Predictive maintenance 

Can you confirm that the submitted proposal should aim to cover all three topics? 

If so should the work plan aim to integrate these three topics as one workplan (rather than three separate work 

plans)? 

Answer 

The call topic clearly states that "Proposals should address all three work streams described ...", therefore your 

proposals should covers all of them. 

The structure of the work plan is entirely up to you to decide. The evaluators will evaluate the quality and 

efficiency of the implementation based on aspects such as the coherence and effectiveness of the work plan, the 

appropriateness of the management structures and procedures, etc. These are aspects to be described by you and 

you may choose the best way to address them. 

Please refer to the "Topic conditions and documents" you can find in the Participant Portal under the topic you 

are interested to for more detailed information. 

 

 

2. Question 

We are preparing a proposal for responding to the above call IP5 OC 02 2015. 

There are two indications available which have been circulated on TRL 2-4 and 3-6  for the same call. 

Please, could you confirm which is the one we have to consider? 

There are of course relevant  implications on how  we structure the work to be done in our proposal. 

 

Answer 

The call topic "S2R-OC-IP5-02-2015 – Improved vehicle/train dynamics" is annexed to the "Shift2Rail JU 2015 

Annual Work Plan". This document is available under this link: Shift2Rail JU 2015 Annual Work Plan 

In page 29 of the document you can find a table with the corresponding TRLs, which is defined as 2-4, for the 

specific call topic. 

 
There was an error in one of the slides presented during the info day on 20 January and this error was explained 

during the presentation, by the S2R JU team. 

Please do not hesitate to contact me for any similar question but in any case I would advise you to refer to the 

call document rather than any other reference. 

 

 

3. Question 

We would like to download the Terms of reference of the below mentioned tender. Please let us know how it 

works. We have sent you an inquiry on February 4 and have not yet received any Answer. Please let us know as 

soon as possible how we can obtain the Terms of Reference for the call “S2R-OC-CCA-01-2015 Long-term 

needs of different actors in the railway sector”. 

 

Answer 

You’ll find the topic description in question in the Annual Work Plan 2015 of S2R JU, annex II. 

http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/other/wp/jtis/h2020-wp15-shift2rail_en.pdf 

 

http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/other/wp/jtis/h2020-wp15-shift2rail_en.pdf
http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/other/wp/jtis/h2020-wp15-shift2rail_en.pdf
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4. Question 

This is to ask a clarification about the Open Call S2R-OC-IP2-03-2015 - 'Technical Specification for a new 

Adaptable Communication system for all Railways'. 

We plan to apply for the Open Call in subject as Coordinator. 

I would ask two questions regarding the above topic. 

 

1- PROJECT DURATION. The only certain date we have found is the beginning of the Open Call activity 

expected in Q4 2016 (Annual Work Plan p. 27), but we cannot find the end date of the project. 

Reading the Multi Annual Action Plan we understood a period of two years as duration of the project. 

In fact, the topic on which we are working is complementary to the topic S2R-CFM-IP2-01-2015 'Start-up 

activities for Advanced Signalling and Automation System'. From Annex I of the Annual Work Plan (page 44), 

the Business Model work appears linked to the work stream of the Multi Annual Action Plan 'Adaptable 

Communication system for all Railways', and in particular to the development of the demonstrator TD2.1' 

Adaptable communications for all railways (quality of service, signaling interfaces)' . At page 183 the MAAP 

task T2.1.2 'business model' seems to correspond to the Open Call in subject. On page 185 the relevant Planning 

table indicates a duration of T2.1.2 task of two years (H2 2016 - 2017 - H1 2018).  

Could you confirm that the conclusion of the project is in Q2 2018 when we will have to provide the input for 

the next JU tasks T2.1.x, please?  

We wonder whether the conclusion must be in 2017 in time to start the Task 2.1.5 'development of prototypes . 

 

2- TASK T2.1.1 USER REQUIREMENTS. We are assuming that this task is the responsibility of members of 

the JU, therefore excluded from the activities of the Open Call. 

The T2.1.1 results are an input to the Task T2.1.2 'business model' and we shall receive them by JU members. 

Could you confirm, please? 

 

 

Answer 

Regarding project duration, there are no formal limits. A typical project would usually last between 2 and 4 

years, while larger projects could also run longer.  

The best way to establish aproject duration is to ensure that project proposal is underpinned by realistic and 

adapted time planning with clear milestones and objectives, responding to the scope of the topic, and indicative 

budget.  

Please be aware that this topic you refer to in your e-mail, S2R-OC-IP2-03-2015: Technical Specification for a 

new Adaptable Communication system for all Railways, is complementary with topic S2R-CFM-IP2-01-2015: 

Start-up activities for advanced signalling and automation system, which is reserved for JU members and their 

affiliated entities. Any successful open call consortium will be expected to cooperate and sign a collaboration 

agreement with a consortium of JU members working on the complementary topic. Such cooperation would 

ensure the complementarity and synchronicity of work that would be necessary to advance the objectives of the 

S2R programme.  

The timing of specific tasks/sub-tasks as described in the MAAP is at this stage solely indicative. 

 

 

5. Question 

I would like to ask about these calls: 

•         S2R-OC-IP5-02-2015: Improved vehicle/train dynamics 

•         S2R-OC-IP5-03-2015: Intelligent freight wagon with predictive maintenance 

•         S2R-OC-CCA-02-2015: Energy usage, generation and saving approaches 

 

I am helping my colleagues to submit proposal for one of these calls. They said that it should be just one partner 

from our country – Lithuania, but I read everything about these calls and I did not find conditions about that.  

I just found that list of countries and applicable rules for funding are the same as in all calls. And also that call 

requires at least 3 participants. 

So, can we have more partners from Lithuania? Not just our university and other countries. 
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Answer 

The standard eligibility conditions of Horizon 2020 apply for the Shift2Rail 2015-2016 open calls (for non-JU 

members). This means that for the Research and Innovation Action (RIA) and Innovation Action (IA) needs 3 

entities from 3 different Member States. The possibility of a mono-beneficiary grant (single entity applying) is 

only possible with Coordination and Support Actions (CSA).  

Nothing precludes also the possibility of having more than one entity from the same Member State. 

Please see in particular Part C of the H2020 general annexes referred in the call: 

Eligibility and admissibility conditions: described in part B and C of the General Annexes of the main H2020 

Work Programme and the Shift2Rail JU 2015 Annual Work Plan.  

The type of action (RIA/IA/CSA) for each topic can be found in the topic summary available on the call page.   

 

 

6. Question 

I would like to consult following: 

We would like to prepare proposal in field that is described in 

S2R-OC-CCA-04-2015 by these words: 

"The proposals should also propose measures to improve vehicle, human and big animal detection on tracks, and 

specifically on safety-critical sectors of infrastructure, such as level crossings, bridges and tunnels. The 

objective is to avoid the more severe collisions and consequences of such accidents, and ensure safer conditions 

with external interfaces from the railway system itself.   

The work should identify and update the definition and classification of risky zones, steer studies, develop new 

equipment, proposals, learning, training to reduce the level of risk and consequences of such accidents." 

This description is only one part (section) of text that is named as "Scope". 

Will be our project proposal rejected in case that we describe our solutions and research methodology that 

covers only mentioned part of scope? 

S2R-OC-CCA-04-2015 is divided to "Safety" and "Integrated Mobility". 

Will be project proposal rejected in case that it will contain only solutions and research oriented to "Safety"? 

 

Answer 

Concerning your specific question, it is clear from the description of the scope of topic S2R- OC-CCA-04-2015 

that ''Proposals should address both challenges mentioned above - safety and integrated mobility - to the same 

extent and include the following elements....''.  

Therefore to be considered fully in-scope, proposals should address the two work streams mentioned in the topic 

description. 

 

 

7. Question 

We are interested in submitting a proposal in the frame of the S2R-OC-CCA-01-2015 Long-term needs of 

different actors in the railway sector (deadline 17th of March) part of the Annex II (2015 Call for proposals for 

non-JU members) of the 2015 Annual Work Plan.. However in the Submission system there is a mention “Topic 

for S2R JU Members” under the title “Condition and documents”. 

https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/topics/9061-s2r-oc-cca-01-

2015.html   

Can you please clarify if non-JU members are eligible to submit a proposal in line with the workplan? 

 

Answer 

Indeed topic S2R-OC-CCA-01-2015 Long-term needs of different actors in the railway sector is indeed a topic 

for non-JU members as mentioned in Annex II of the 2015 Annual Work Plan. 

Please accept our apologies for the error on H2020 participant portal. This was corrected and notified under call 

update. 

 

https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/topics/9061-s2r-oc-cca-01-2015.html
https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/topics/9061-s2r-oc-cca-01-2015.html
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8. Question 

The first calls for Shift2Rail proposals are listed and I note that some of the calls have references starting S2R 

CFM….. and others have references starting S2R OC…. 

Does the CFM reference indicate that that particular call is for S2S members only? (What does CFM stand for?) 

Similarly, does OC stand for Open Call? 

 

Answer 

Your understanding is correct, the topics for non-members are marked with OC in the titles and clearly 

mentioned in the topic conditions underneath, while there other topics marked with CFM in the titles (and in the 

topic conditions) are for the already selected S2R JU members. 

 

 

9. Question 

I have a couple of further questions please, and this relates to Open Call Answers by non JU members 

specifically.   

Whilst I’ve looked at the FAQs I’m not totally clear whether a company is permitted to make a profit on a piece 

of work for Shift2Rail?  I see that staff costs may be recovered for the time that staff are working on the project 

and whilst I noted that sub-contractor suppliers to JU members are expected to make a profit (and that value for 

money will drive selection) I haven’t seen a specific statement about non JU members other than not for profit 

organisations.  Any information and clarification would be much appreciated. 

Secondly, would you confirm how IP ownership is expected to work for non JU members?  I note that JU 

members will retain their own IP. 

Your answers will be very helpful to me in determining how to proceed in respect of the calls which are 

currently open. 

 

Answer 

The no-profit principle is one of the fundamental principles governing the award and management of EU grants. 

Article 125(4) of the General EU Financial Regulation provides that “grants shall not have the purpose or effect 

of producing a profit within the framework of the action or the work programme of the beneficiary ('no-profit 

principle').” 

Article 5.3.3 of the model grant agreement (standard H2020 and S2R) foresees the reduction of the final grant 

amount in the event of a breach of the no-profit rule. 

This rule applies indiscriminately to S2R JU Members and non-members. 

The rules governing IP ownership are identical for JU Members and for non-members. 

Indeed, the basic principle under Horizon 2020 is that results are owned by the participant that carries out the 

work from which they resulted. The manner in which joint ownership is managed may be further detailed in the 

consortium agreement or in separate joint ownership agreements. 

 

 

10. Question 

We were wondering if you can help us with the following inquiry concerning the call S2R-OC-CCA-01-2015: 

We are trying to identify if there is any estimated time span of the project, but in the Programme call and in the 

Annual Work Plan there was no such indication. Could you please let us know if there is any anticipation 

concerning the expected duration of the project? 

 

Answer 

Regarding project duration, there are no formal limits. A typical project would usually last between 2 and 4 

years, while larger projects could also run longer.  

The best way to establish a project duration is to ensure that project proposal is underpinned by realistic and 

adapted time planning with clear milestones and objectives, responding to the scope of the topic, and indicative 

budget. 
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11. Question 

1) An open call for non JU member has a budget of 1M€. A consortium involves a partner which belongs to a 

third country not associated with the EU. Its input is essential to achieve the goals of the call. 

According to Article 9 of the Grant agreement the budget will list all the costs of all the partners including 

the partner of a third country not associated with the EU. 

The costs of this partner are not eligible to EU (JU) funding and they are counted for 0 in the requested  

funding of the consortium presented to the EU (JU).   

Would you confirm to me that it is the total eligible costs of the partners excluding those of the partner of 

the third country that have to respect the indicative budget given in the call 1M€ (+20% maximum if 

necessary according to H2020 rules) 

 

2) A partner is a non JU member and is part of a consortium submitting a project to answer an open call. 

Independently from his participation to the open call this partner has developed a product which is of 

interest for JU associated members preparing a project to answer a JU associated Member call. 

Does this partner of an open call has the right to be a supplier of associated members answering a call 

for associated members. 

 

Answer 

1) Please consult the Annotated Model Grant Agreement, Article 4 (page 21 onwards) 

http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/grants_manual/amga/h2020-amga_en.pdf   
ARTICLE 4 — ESTIMATED BUDGET AND BUDGET TRANSFERS  

1. Estimated budget  

The estimated budget of the action is calculated on the basis of the estimated eligible costs submitted by the 

consortium and is annexed to the GA (Annex 2).  

These estimated eligible costs are used to determine the ‘maximum grant amount’ of the action (called 

‘EU/Euratom financial contribution’ in FP7 projects; see Article 5.1).  

Costs of beneficiaries not receiving EU funding will be indicated in Annex 2, but will not be included in the total 

eligible costs and will not count for the maximum amount of the grant (see Article 9). 

A further detail would be kindly requested on the +20% mentioned in the question. It should be noted that the 

maximum grant amount set out in the Article 5 is fixed and cannot be exceeded.  

For any budget transfer between the categories, they must respect the provisions set in the GA. For further 

detail, please also consult the Annotated Model Grant Agreement (Article 5, page 24 onwards). 

 

2) The partner in question is entitled to make their product available to an S2R JU Member as a 

subcontractor or legal entity with a legal link to that Member. 

 

 
12. Question 

We have, in conjunction with potential collaborators, been considering the work programme described in the 

Shift2Rail Multi-Annual Action Plan – Part 3 – IP3 (in particular pages 316- 473 of that Plan).  We were, 

therefore, particularly interested in the calls for S2R-CFM-IP3-01-2016 and S2R-CFM-IP3-02-2016.  However, 

the text of those calls do not match the text of the Multi-Annual Action Plan and we have a number of queries 

regarding the scope and budget for those two calls. 

 

S2R-CFM-IP3-01-2016 – Research into enhanced track and switch and crossing system.  Despite the title the 

text of the call states that the scope extends to bridges and tunnels. At first sight the text seems to merge parts of 

TD3.1 to TD3.5 (as described in the Multi-Annual Plan). We would be grateful if you could conform the scope 

of this call.  And if it doesn’t include bridges and tunnels (for example) – would these be subject be a topic for a 

later call?  The EU support for this call is € 2.8M – even with contribution in kind/cash this seems inadequate to 

cover the maintenance, repair and upgrading of all the types of infrastructure mentioned.  It might be difficult to 

assemble a single Project team that has expertise across all types of infrastructure.  The Multi-Annual Action 

Plan quite rightly requires a link to TD3.6 to TD3.8 (Intelligent Asset Management) – all major infrastructure 

http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/grants_manual/amga/h2020-amga_en.pdf
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managers have problems with managing asset data/information.  This aspect is not mentioned in the call – could 

you please confirm whether or not this is this a deliberate omission?  The concerted move towards the 

introduction of Business Information Modelling (BIM) would seem the way forward, but it is improbable that 

this could be explored within the likely budget for this call. 

 

S2R-CFM-IP3-02-2016 – Intelligent maintenance systems and strategies.  At first sight this text seems to bring 

together aspects of TD3.6 to TD3.8 (as described in the Multi-Annual Plan).  The text of the call refers to the 

most critical assets (tracks, switch & crossings, signalling and railway operations): I’m not sure what is meant 

by railway operations (as an asset), and the text does not mention specifically bridges or tunnels.  Again, we 

would be grateful if you could confirm the scope of this call.  Given the more limited scope of this call 

compared with IP3-01- it seems anomalous that the EU contribution is more than 2.5 times the budget than that 

for IP3-01. 

 

Answer 

It is important to note that the specific calls, to which you refer, are addressed only to the JU members, as 

clearly indicated in the web page of the calls. Therefore the non-JU members are not eligible to apply for them.  

The call topics for non-members are marked with “OC” in the titles and clearly mentioned in the topic 

conditions underneath, while there other topics marked with “CFM” in the titles (and in the topic conditions) are 

for the already selected S2R JU members. 

 

• According to the eligibility criteria listed in the Shift2Rail Annual Work Plan (section 4.2.5.4 

Eligibility criteria) http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/other/wp/jtis/h2020-wp15-

shift2rail_en.pdf  only JU members (founding and associated) and their affiliates can be beneficiaries in the 

Calls for members. There is no particular restriction to include non-members as subcontractors, it is up to the 

S2R members to choose their subcontractors as long as the standard H2020 rules on subcontracting are 

respected (best value for money etc). See Article 13, page 128 (Implementation of actions tasks by 

subcontractors) of the Annotated Grant Agreement for further details 

http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/grants_manual/amga/h2020-amga_en.pdf  

 

• JU members (founding and associated) and their affiliates cannot be beneficiaries in the call for non-JU 

Members, but they can be involved in advisory capacity/groups preferably on reciprocal grounds. See the 

eligibility criteria in the Shift2Rail Annual Work Plan referred to above for further details.  

 

• The list of S2R JU members can be found on the S2R website: http://www.shift2rail.org/wp-

content/uploads/2016/01/List-of-S2R-JU-members.pdf  

 

As a general answer to your questions we would like to note that the topic descriptions and corresponding 

budgets can cover more than one TD (partially or entirely) and have been formulated on the basis of the S2R 

objectives and taking into account the specific expertise of the JU members, the availability of budget and the 

overall planning of the S2R activities up to 2024 (to which this call only cover a part of the MAAP). Please be 

reassured that the S2R JU is taking all necessary measures in order to guarantee that the scope of each of the 

individual current and future calls contributes to the overall objectives of the programme as whole and that the 

allocated budget is proportionate, each time, to the expected outcome of the specific topic. 

 

 

13. Question 

I would be grateful if you could send me a pdf copy of the Shift2Rail Annotated Model Agreement that was 

mentioned at the S2R Information day on 20th January (see extract from one of the presentation slides below). 

For detailed explanations and practical examples, please refer to the Annotated Model Grant Agreement, a user 

guide that aims to explain to applicants and beneficiaries the General Model Grant Agreement (not covering any 

S2R specificities): http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/grants_manual/amga/h2020-amga 

http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/other/wp/jtis/h2020-wp15-shift2rail_en.pdf
http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/other/wp/jtis/h2020-wp15-shift2rail_en.pdf
http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/grants_manual/amga/h2020-amga_en.pdf
http://www.shift2rail.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/List-of-S2R-JU-members.pdf
http://www.shift2rail.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/List-of-S2R-JU-members.pdf
http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/grants_manual/amga/h2020-amga%20en.pdf
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en.pdf   Unfortunately when I clicked on the link that was given, I was not able to access this document – a 

“Forbidden” was given on my browser. 

 

Answer 

Thank you for your message and apologies for the erroneous weblink in the presentation slides.  

Shift2Rail model grant agreement (mono and respectively multi beneficiary) can be found in section 5 under 

topic conditions and documents on the S2R call page at 

https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/topics/9074-s2r-cfm-cca-01-

2015.html (screen-shot enclosed).  

There are no major differences between S2R grant agreement and H2020 General Model Grant Agreement, that 

is why for detailed explanations and practical examples, the Horizon 2020 Annotated Model Grant Agreement is 

a good source of information and available under the same section mentioned above, here the direct weblink 

http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/grants_manual/amga/h2020-amga_en.pdf  

 

 

14. Question 

Our research centre would be interested in participating into the Shift2Rail calls. It seems that some topics are 

reserved for Shift2Rail members and other topics are open to non-members. We have a question concerning the 

latter topics: can Shift2Rail associated members participate in proposal submitted with non-members in these 

topics? It seems that the founding members cannot submit projects in these topics. Is it also the case for 

associated members? 

Additionally, would it be possible to get a list of the associated members? This would help us to know which of 

our partners might be interested in joining a consortium for these calls. 

 

Answer 

• Indeed according to the eligibility criteria listed in the Shift2Rail Annual Work Plan (section 4.2.5.4 

Eligibility criteria) http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/other/wp/jtis/h2020-wp15-

shift2rail_en.pdf  only JU members (founding and associated) and their affiliates can be beneficiaries in the 

Calls for members. There is no particular restriction to include non-members as subcontractors, it is up to the 

S2R members to choose their subcontractors as long as the standard H2020 rules on subcontracting are 

respected (best value for money etc). See Article 13, page 128 (Implementation of actions tasks by 

subcontractors) of the Annotated Grant Agreement for further details 

http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/grants_manual/amga/h2020-amga_en.pdf  

 

• JU members (founding and associated) and their affiliates cannot be beneficiaries in the open calls but 

they can be involved in advisory capacity/groups preferably on reciprocal grounds. See the eligibility criteria in 

the Shift2Rail Annual Work Plan referred to above for further details.  

 

• The list of S2R associated members can be found on the S2R website: http://www.shift2rail.org/wp-

content/uploads/2016/01/List-of-S2R-JU-members.pdf  

 

 

15. Question 

I would like to ask one question concerning project consortium members for both type of calls - for the JU 

members and fort non-JU members. 

Our university is non-JU member. We have some cooperation with a founding member and some associated 

members. 

Can our university be partner in consortium for project proposal in frame of call for the JU members? 

Can a founding member and some associated members participate as partners in consortium for project proposal 

in frame of call for non-JU members? 

 

Answer 

http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/grants_manual/amga/h2020-amga%20en.pdf
https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/topics/9074-s2r-cfm-cca-01-2015.html
https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/topics/9074-s2r-cfm-cca-01-2015.html
http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/grants_manual/amga/h2020-amga_en.pdf
http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/other/wp/jtis/h2020-wp15-shift2rail_en.pdf
http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/other/wp/jtis/h2020-wp15-shift2rail_en.pdf
http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/grants_manual/amga/h2020-amga_en.pdf
http://www.shift2rail.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/List-of-S2R-JU-members.pdf
http://www.shift2rail.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/List-of-S2R-JU-members.pdf
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1.            According to the eligibility criteria listed in the Shift2Rail Annual Work Plan (section 4.2.5.4 

Eligibility criteria) http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/other/wp/jtis/h2020-wp15-

shift2rail_en.pdf only JU members can be beneficiaries in the Calls for members. There is no particular 

restriction to include non-members as subcontractors, it is up to the S2R members to choose their subcontractors 

as long as the standard H2020 rules on subcontracting are respected (best value for money etc). See Article 13, 

page 128 (Implementation of actions tasks by subcontractors) of the Annotated Grant Agreement for further 

details http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/grants_manual/amga/h2020-amga_en.pdf  

 

2.            JU members cannot be beneficiaries in the calls for non-JU Members, but they can be involved in 

advisory capacity/groups preferably on reciprocal grounds.  

 

See the eligibility criteria in the Shift2Rail Annual Work Plan referred to above for further details. 

 

 

16. Question 

If we are looking to submit a proposal to an open call - S2R-OC-CCA-03-2015 for example, do we need to be 

part of a consortium or can we submit as a single entity (research institution)? 

 

Answer 

The standard eligibility conditions of Horizon 2020 apply for the Shift2Rail 2015-2016 open calls (for non-JU 

members). This means that for the Research and Innovation Action (RIA) and Innovation Action (IA) needs 3 

entities from 3 different Member States. The possibility of a mono-beneficiary grant (single entity applying) is 

only possible with Coordination and Support Actions (CSA).  

Please see in particular Part C of the H2020 general annexes referred in the call: 

Eligibility and admissibility conditions: described in part B and C of the General Annexes of the main H2020 

Work Programme and the Shift2Rail JU 2015 Annual Work Plan.  

The type of action (RIA/IA/CSA) for each topic can be found in the topic summary.  

 

 

17. Question 

I was hoping that you might be able to answer a couple of questions we have with regards to the shift2rail calls, 

and who can be involved.  

1.       For the Calls for members, we understand that only JU members can be beneficiaries, but would it be 

possible for a non-member to be involved as a sub-contract? 

2.       For the open calls, we understand that JU members cannot be beneficiaries, but is it possible for them to 

be included as a partner not receiving any of the budget? 

 

Answer 

1. Indeed according to the eligibility criteria listed in the Shift2Rail Annual Work Plan (section 4.2.5.4 

Eligibility criteria) only JU members can be beneficiaries in the Calls for members. There is no particular 

restriction to include non-members as subcontractors, it is up to the S2R members to choose their subcontractors 

as long as the standard H2020 rules on subcontracting are respected (best value for money etc). See Article 13, 

page 128 (Implementation of actions tasks by subcontractors) of the Annotated Grant Agreement for further 

details http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/grants_manual/amga/h2020-amga_en.pdf  

 

2. JU members cannot be beneficiaries in the open calls but they can be involved in advisory 

capacity/groups preferably on reciprocal grounds. See the eligibility criteria in the Shift2Rail Annual Work Plan 

referred to above for further details. 

 

 

18. Question 

http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/other/wp/jtis/h2020-wp15-shift2rail_en.pdf
http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/other/wp/jtis/h2020-wp15-shift2rail_en.pdf
http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/grants_manual/amga/h2020-amga_en.pdf
http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/grants_manual/amga/h2020-amga_en.pdf
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I have read with interest about the new H2020 for Rail programme which sees Shift2Rail oversee the whole 

Horizon 2020 budget and management for Rail related projects. 

Is my understanding correct that Shift2Rail is handling all Rail related projects and funding for Horizon 2020? 

I've noted the new calls listed here 

https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/calls/h2020-s2rju-2015-01.html  

Would it be possible to please advise where I can download further information about each of the specific calls 

so we can plan which topic is most suitable for our application form? 

 

Answer 

Your understanding is correct, the Horizon 2020 budget and grants on railway research are managed by 

Shift2Rail Joint Undertaking.  

All the descriptions of the topics for non-JU members are included in annex II of the Shift2Rail Annual Work 

Plan available on the Participant Portal section ‘topic conditions and documents’. Please see the screenshot 

enclosed. 

You can find all the S2R topics calls (and conditions) at the following links: 

https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/calls/h2020-s2rju-2015-01.html     

https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/calls/h2020-s2rju-2016-01.html   

Please bear in mind that the topics for non-members are marked with OC in the titles and clearly mentioned in 

the topic conditions, while there other topics marked with CFM in the titles (and in the topic conditions) are for 

the already selected S2R JU members.  

 

 

19. Question 

Please can you send me the link for S2R-CFM-IP4-01-2015 so can download the full RFP documentation? 

At the moment all I can find is the summary page on this RFP in the participant portal. 

 

Answer 

Please note that all the descriptions of the topics are included in annexes I and II of the annexed Annual Work 

Plan and not in the summary of the Participant Portal.  

For your specific question the full topic description for S2R-CFM-IP4-01-2015 can be found in Annex I of the 

Shift2Rail 2015 Annual Work Plan available on the H2020 Participant Portal at 

https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/topics/9072-s2r-cfm-ip4-01-

2015.html  .  

 Please bear in mind that this specific topic is dedicated only to S2R members (marked with CFM in the titles 

and in the topic conditions below), while there other topics which are for non-members (marked with OC in the 

titles and in the topic conditions). 

 

 

20. Question 

Can you be kind enough to describe the process to become a S2R Member? 

What does CFM stand for? 

 

Answer 

The Shift2Rail Joint Undertaking (S2R JU) was established by Council Regulation (EU) No 642/2014 of 16 

June 2014.   

S2R JU has nine founding members: the European Union, represented by the European Commission, and eight 

members from the rail industry, consisting of rail equipment manufacturers Alstom, Ansaldo STS, Bombardier 

Transportation, Construcciones y Auxiliar de Ferrocarriles (CAF), Siemens, Thales and infrastructure managers 

Trafikverket and Network Rail. 

To ensure that the Shift2Rail Joint Undertaking included all the key expertise needed to complete its mission, it 

was foreseen from the outset that the founding members would be complemented by associated members. In 

that respect, a call for expressions of interest to become an associated member of the Joint Undertaking was 

https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/calls/h2020-s2rju-2015-01.html
https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/calls/h2020-s2rju-2015-01.html
https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/calls/h2020-s2rju-2016-01.html
https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/topics/9072-s2r-cfm-ip4-01-2015.html
https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/topics/9072-s2r-cfm-ip4-01-2015.html
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launched in October 2014 (see http://ec.europa.eu/transport/modes/rail/news/shift-to-rail-call_en.htm) and has 

resulted in the selection in December 2015 of 19 associated members from across Europe (see 

http://ec.europa.eu/transport/modes/rail/news/doc/2015-12-17-shift2rail-calls/c(2015)8674.pdf).  

Other organisations than the S2R members can participate in the so-called S2R open calls.  

This first batch of calls covers open calls for a total value of €26.1 million (topics marked with OC in the title), 

and calls reserved for S2R JU members only (topics marked with CFM in the title). 

 

 

21. Question 

 

I have read on the Internet that Shift2Rail has launched first calls for projects. 

Our company from Poland, as a producer of composite lighting poles, is interested in taking part in the projects. 

We already cooperate with Polish State Railways and with Lithuanian State Railways.  

I have read your Annual Work Plan for 2016 and Strategic Master Plan.  

We would be interested in the Innovation Programme 3.  

Could you please let me know if the Programme includes also lighting of railway stations?  

Our composite poles are very safe because they do not conduct electricity and do not corrode because there are 

no metal elements.  

Therefore, we are able to offer a product which lowers the investments and operating costs. 

Please visit our profile, where you can read more about our products and watch a video of our railway project in 

Opole/Poland: http://www.railway-news.com/alumast-sa-producer-of-composite-lighting-poles-for-rail-industry  

Would that be possible for us to take part in the programme? 

 

Answer 

The lighting of stations is mentioned in the Multi Annual Action Plan (MAAP) as one of the examples of 

building materials and components that could be explored within the objective of “Improved Station Designs 

and Components”. In this sense the answer to your question is that indeed the Programme includes lighting of 

railway stations. 

However please take into account the following remarks: 

1.      Topics on stations are not part of the current call for proposals for non-JU members 

2.      The fact that lighting of railway stations is mentioned in the MAAP as one of the components does not 

necessarily mean that a proposal exclusively on this subject would qualify for funding. This will be decided on 

the basis of an independent evaluation and according to the established criteria. 

3.      From your message it is not clear whether you have already developed the system or further research is 

necessary. If the system with lower investment and operating costs is already developed then perhaps what is 

needed is a market uptake, which goes beyond the objectives of the S2R programme. 

You can find all the topics calls (and conditions) at the following links: 

https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/calls/h2020-s2rju-2015-01.html  

https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/calls/h2020-s2rju-2016-01.html  

 

 

22. Question 

I would like to kindly ask that is it an obligation to form a consortium that is composed of at least three legal 

entities from three different EU member or associated states while submitting the proposal to Shift2Rail 2015-

2016  Open Calls (Non-JU Members).  

Or similar to Clean Sky 2 JTI rules for participation, is it possible to submit a project by a single legal entity 

without forming a consortium. 

 

Answer 

The standard eligibility conditions of H2020 apply for the Shift2Rail 2015-2016 Open Calls (Non-JU 

Members). This means that the possibility of a mono-beneficiary grant (single entity applying) is only possible 

with Coordination and Support Actions. 

http://ec.europa.eu/transport/modes/rail/news/shift-to-rail-call_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/transport/modes/rail/news/doc/2015-12-17-shift2rail-calls/c(2015)8674.pdf
http://www.railway-news.com/alumast-sa-producer-of-composite-lighting-poles-for-rail-industry
https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/calls/h2020-s2rju-2015-01.html
https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/calls/h2020-s2rju-2016-01.html
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The RIA and IA actions need indeed 3 entities from 3 different Member States, please see in particular Part C of 

the H2020 general annexes referred in the call: 

Eligibility and admissibility conditions: described in part B and C of the General Annexes of the main H2020 

Work Programme and the Shift2Rail JU 2015 Annual Work Plan. 

 

 

23. Question 

A Spanish SME whose core business is to develop advanced SW to Optimize of Transport (ground, railway and 

air transport) Operations, such as: 

— Optimal timetabling  

— Optimal vehicle scheduling  

— Optimal driver scheduling 

— Optimal driver rostering  

— Day-to-day re-scheduling  

— Resources dispatching and control. 

We would like to know if under Shift2Rail Joint Undertaking is possible to look for partners in order to 

establish a consortium and a project to present under the call launched by S2R. 

 

Answer 

With regard to possible areas for your company, one of S2R Innovation Programmes (IP4) is dedicated to 

developing “IT solutions for attractive railway services”. For more details I would invite you to have a look in 

the S2R Multi-Annual Action Plan (MAAP), which is available on the JU’s website: 

http://www.shift2rail.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/S2R-JU-GB_Decision-N-15-2015-MAAP.pdf  

 

More details on current open calls for proposals, and topics related to different Innovation Programmes, can be 

found in S2R Annual Work Plans 2015 and 2016, equally available on the JU’s website: 

http://www.shift2rail.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/S2R-JU-GB_Decision-N-16-2015-AWP-2015.pdf and 

http://www.shift2rail.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/S2R-JU-GB_Decision-N-17-2015-AWP-2016.pdf. 

 

With regard to partner search, we would suggest the following: 

- Attending the forthcoming S2R Info Day for non-members on 20 January in Brussels, which includes a 

brokerage session facilitating the creation of consortia. For the agenda and registration to the Info Day, please 

see www.shift2rail.org 

- You can fill-in your company profile in the H2020 partner search database (see weblink below) 

- Contact your national contact point (NCP) on Transport who might advise if any proposals for S2R call 

are drawn up  

 

For the two latter points, please see section ‘Get support’ in the S2R call (at the bottom of each topic the 

page):https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/calls/h2020-s2rju-2015-

01.html  

https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/calls/h2020-s2rju-2016-01.html  

 

 

24. Question 

I am interested in the Shift2Rail calls for non JU members. 

Are there any requirements concerning the size and composition of the applicants?  

1) If a University wants to apply for a funding, does the proposal has to include the cooperation with companies 

such as railroad supplies, rail operators etc? 

If this is the case are there any guidelines (e.g. internationality, quantity)? 

2) Are the calls for JU members restricted to applicants exclusively consisting of JU members? Or do JU 

members have the right to include other companies, research institutions, university etc. (which are non JU 

members) as applicants within the proposal? 
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Answer 

 

With regard to the questions you raised: 

 

1) The standard eligibility conditions of Horizon 2020 apply for the Shift2Rail 2015-2016 open calls (for 

non-JU members). This means that for the Research and Innovation Action (RIA) and Innovation Action (IA) 

needs 3 entities from 3 different Member States. The possibility of a mono-beneficiary grant (single entity 

applying) is only possible with Coordination and Support Actions (CSA).  

 

Please see in particular Part C of the H2020 general annexes referred in the call: 

 

Eligibility and admissibility conditions: described in part B and C of the General Annexes of the main H2020 

Work Programme and the Shift2Rail JU 2015 Annual Work Plan.  

 

As for the composition of the application, it is up to the proposers to decide which consortium composition 

could excellently address the topic requirements (challenge, scope, expected impacts). 

 

 

2) Indeed the S2R Calls for members are restricted to the JU members. Please see in particular section 

4.2.5.4 Eligibility criteria of the Shift2Rail Annual Work Plan 

http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/other/wp/jtis/h2020-wp15-shift2rail_en.pdf . However, 

there is no particular restriction to involve non-members as subcontractors, as long as the standard H2020 rules 

on subcontracting are respected (best value for money etc). See Article 13, page 128 (Implementation of actions 

tasks by subcontractors) of the Annotated Grant Agreement for further details : 

http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/grants_manual/amga/h2020-amga_en.pdf   

 

 

25. Question 

I am working with a group of SME and university partners around an invention for novel and sustainable noise 

protection barriers for railways. 

They are based on waste tyres, see picture and patent attached. 

Are we eligible to submit a project in the OC call 

TOPIC: Interoperability Framework governance, ensuring its market uptake and sustainability  

Topic identifier: S2R-OC-IP4-01-2016 or another OC call? 

 

Answer 

The standard eligibility conditions of Horizon 2020 apply for the Shift2Rail 2015-2016 open calls (for non-JU 

members). Eligibility and admissibility conditions are described in part B and C of the General Annexes of the 

main H2020 Work Programme and the Shift2Rail JU 2015 and 2016 Annual Work Plan 

 

 

26. Question 

We were planning to establish a trolleybus line in Ankara, TURKEY and we would like this trolleybus project 

to be carried out like a Horizon 2020 Project. Because of the fact that a trolleybus is a combination of both a bus 

and a tram, we have no idea if this trolleybus project can be achieved within Shift2Rail or Horizon 2020. I was 

wondering whether an innovation about trolleybus can benefit from 'Horizon 2020 work programme for smart, 

green and integrated transport' or Shift2Rail project. Because a trolleybus has wheels as in bus and has 

electricity line as in tram. Which of the 2 above mentioned programmes is suitable for a trolleybus? I am willing 

to read your answer as soon as possible. 
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Answer 

The Horizon 2020 budget and grants on railway research are managed by Shift2Rail Joint Undertaking.  

All the descriptions of the topics for non-JU members are included in annex II of the Shift2Rail Annual Work 

Plan available on the Participant Portal section ‘topic conditions and documents’.  

You can find all the S2R topics calls (and conditions) at the following links: 

https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/calls/h2020-s2rju-2015-01.html     

https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/calls/h2020-s2rju-2016-01.html   

Please bear in mind that the topics for non-members are marked with OC in the titles and clearly mentioned in 

the topic conditions, while there other topics marked with CFM in the titles (and in the topic conditions) are for 

the already selected S2R JU members.  

 

 

27. Question 

Can you please confirm or otherwise the following for Open Calls to the S2RJU: 

•         Usual RIA template is to be used (see attached) 

•      Usual rules of at least three different legal entities from three different countries are required for each 

proposal 

 

Answer 

The standard eligibility conditions of Horizon 2020 apply for the Shift2Rail 2015-2016 open calls (for non-JU 

members). This means that for the Research and Innovation Action (RIA) and Innovation Action (IA) needs 3 

entities from 3 different Member States. The possibility of a mono-beneficiary grant (single entity applying) is 

only possible with Coordination and Support Actions (CSA).  

Please see in particular Part C of the H2020 general annexes referred in the call: 

Eligibility and admissibility conditions: described in part B and C of the General Annexes of the main H2020 

Work Programme and the Shift2Rail JU 2015 Annual Work Plan.  

The type of action (RIA/IA/CSA) for each topic can be found in the topic summary available on the call page.   

During the proposal submission in the Participant Portal you will have access to the Shift2Rail templates fro 

RIA/IACSA. 

 

 

28. Question 

Regarding the call topic SR2-OC-IP3-01-2016- Research into new radical ways of changing tracks, please could 

you confirm if proposals should address all three of the interdependent work streams stated, which include: 

-Next Generation Control; Monitoring and Sensor Systems 

-Next Generation Design; Materials & Components 

-Next Generation Kinematic Systems 

 

Answer 

The call topic clearly states that " The research and innovation activities should evolve with three interdependent 

work streams...", therefore to be considered fully in-scope, proposals should address the three work streams 

mentioned in the topic description. 

 

 

29. Question 

The proposal should not be longer than 17 pages, is it correct? 

 

Answer 

No, for the proposal page limits and layout: Please refer to Part B of the standard proposal template, which are 

available after entering the SEP submission tool. 

https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/calls/h2020-s2rju-2015-01.html
https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/calls/h2020-s2rju-2016-01.html
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Please note that it is indicated in all current S2R call topics that they are one single-stage submission, full 

proposals (and not two-stage submission scheme). For full proposals, the cover page, and sections 1, 2 and 3, 

together should not be longer than 70 pages. 

 

 

30. Question 

I am representing a group of companies which is preparing the submission for the call S2R-OC-CCA-03-2015. 

Under our understanding, for the first submission deadline on 17th march, it must be submitted a document with 

sections 1 and 2(the parts indicated with the bracket) with a maximum length of 15 pages. Is this hypothesis 

right? 

Answer 

No, for the proposal page limits and layout: Please refer to Part B of the standard proposal template, which are 

available after entering the SEP submission tool. 

Please note that it is indicated in all current S2R call topics that they are one single-stage submission, full 

proposals (and not two-stage submission scheme). For full proposals, the cover page, and sections 1, 2 and 3, 

together should not be longer than 70 pages. 

 

 

31. Question 

By looking at "Multi-beneficiary Model Grant Agreement for Shift2Rail Joint Undertaking (S2R JU)", dated 15 

December 2015 (file name h2020-mga-multi-shift2rail-ju_en.pdf), I noticed that the row "Chapter 5 - 

DIVISION OF BENEFICIARIES’ ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES — RELATIONSHIP WITH 

COMPLEMENTARY BENEFICIARIES — RELATIONSHIP WITH PARTNERS OF A JOINT ACTION" is 

missing in the table of contents. This could create confusion for users. 

 

Answer 

Thank you for highlighting this omission. It will be corrected accordingly. 

 

 

32. Question 

Are Members of the Shift2Rail Joint Undertaking permitted to provide support to entities intending to take part 

in activities funded under S2R JU open calls, in the form of the following actions?: 

- Endorsement? 

- Provide a letter of support? 

- Act on an advisory board? 

- Provide in-kind support for technical discussions, access for trials etc.? 

 

Answer 

Prospective applicants to open calls should refrain from seeking any kind of formal endorsement, support or 

recommendation from Members of the Shift2Rail Joint Undertaking, as to do so could result in a distortion of 

the competitive grant award process. 

 

However, beneficiaries implementing actions in the context of calls restricted to S2R JU Members may be 

required to cooperate with beneficiaries of open calls, if the grants implemented respectively by those two 

categories of beneficiaries have been qualified as complementary to each-other in the annual work plan(s) to 

which those calls relate. 

  

Indeed, beneficiaries and complementary beneficiaries must create and participate in common boards and 

advisory structures to decide on collaboration and synchronization of activities, including on management of 

outcomes, common approaches towards standardisation, SME involvement, links with regulatory and policy 

activities, and commonly shared dissemination and awareness raising activities. Contacts may not be established 
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prior to the award of the grants in question, however, since the applicants to whom the ensuing grants will be 

awarded are unknown at that stage. 

 

Additional information on complementary grants is available in the Horizon 2020 Annotated Model Grant 

Agreement. 

 

Furthermore, Members may participate in the implementation of activities conducted via open calls as 

subcontractors of open call beneficiaries, but not as beneficiaries. 

 

 

33. Question 

With regard to open calls, can a subsidiary of a parent company that is a S2R JU Member participate to the call? 

 

Answer 

No. 

Subsidiaries of Members of the Shift2Rail Joint Undertaking are affiliated entities. 

Pursuant to Article 17(1) of the Statutes annexed to Council Regulation 642/2014, up to 70 % of the Union 

financial contribution to the S2R Joint Undertaking dedicated to operational costs shall be allocated to members, 

other than the Union, and their affiliated entities. 

 

This entails that entities affiliated to S2R JU members are not eligible for funding under the S2R JU’s open calls 

for proposals mentioned in Article 17(1)(c) of the Statutes. 

 

Under the H2020 Rules for Participation, an “affiliated entity” means any legal entity that:  

- is under the direct or indirect control of a beneficiary, or  

- is under the same direct or indirect control as the beneficiary, or  

- directly or indirectly controls a beneficiary.  

 

‘Control’ may take any of the following forms:  

(a) the direct or indirect holding of more than 50% of the nominal value of the issued share capital in the legal 

entity concerned, or of a majority of the voting rights of the shareholders or associates of that entity or  

(b) the direct or indirect holding, in fact or in law, of decision-making powers in the legal entity concerned.  

 

However, the following relationships between legal entities do not constitute control relationships:  

(a) the same public investment corporation, institutional investor or venture-capital company has a direct or 

indirect holding of more than 50% of the nominal value of the issued share capital or a majority of voting rights 

of the shareholders or associates;  

(b) the legal entities concerned are owned or supervised by the same public body. 

 

 

34. Question 

We are aware that JU members only (founding and associate) are eligible as beneficiaries, but beneficiaries can 

include third parties, and we would like to understand what are the available third parties options, and if our 

university is eligible as third party of a JU member. 

 

Answer 

The two options in question are the following: 

- Third party with a legal link with the beneficiary (a legal arrangement which extends beyond the scope of the 

relevant action), 

- Subcontractor 
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35. Question 

According to Art. 4.2.5.8 Financial support to third parties of the Shift2Rail Annual work Plan 2015, “Part K of 

the General Annexes to the EC Horizon 2020 Work Programme 2014-2015 applies for actions performed by JU 

members, supported by the JU.” Does this mean that the articles ruling the participation of third parties in S2R 

proposals are the same as in H2020? 

 

Answer 

Yes. 

Part K of the General Annexes to the EC Horizon 2020 Work Programme 2014-2015 applies mutatis mutandis 

to the actions covered by the S2R JU’s calls for proposals. 

 

 

36. Question 

Art. 8 of the H2020 Annotated Model Grant Agreement provides a description of the third parties options in 

H2020: 

The beneficiaries must have the appropriate resources to implement the action.  

If it is necessary to implement the action, the beneficiaries may: 

- purchase goods, works and services (see Article 10);  

- use in-kind contributions provided by third parties against payment (see Article 11);  

- use in-kind contributions provided by third parties free of charge (see Article 12);  

- call upon subcontractors to implement action tasks described in Annex 1 (see Article 13);  

- call upon linked third parties to implement action tasks described in Annex 1 (see Article 14).  

Are the same options available also in S2R calls? 

 

Answer 

Yes. 

The S2R JU model grant agreement is quasi-identical to the standard H2020 Model Grant Agreement. 

Article 8 of the JU’s model grant agreement is identical to Article 8 of the standard H2020 document. 

 

 

37. Question 

Our institution is NOT a JU member, but we are collaborating with a JU member which will apply to the call for 

JU members, and therefore we will have to choose among one of the above mentioned options for third parties 

participation. 

With reference to the option “linked third parties”: we (our institution and the JU member) have a corporate 

agreement (signed two years ago, to regulate collaboration activities both on the research side, and on the 

teaching/training/placement side).  

Is that kind of agreement (we can provide it, if needed) a suitable motivation for the application of Article 14? 

 

Answer 

Once the S2R JU member effectively becomes a beneficiary, if the agreement in question establishes a 

collaboration that is not limited to the action in question, the status of the institution bound to the member with a 

corporate agreement is that of a third party with a legal link to a beneficiary. 

 

 

38. Question 

I am providing guidance to a researcher who is interested in participating to a consortium applying to the S2R-

OC-IP4-01-2016 (Interoperability Framework governance, ensuring its market uptake and sustainability) call, 

which is a Coordination and Support Action (CSA). My understanding is that the eligibility requirements for a 

CSA is “at least one legal entity established in an EU Member State or Horizon 2020 associated country”, which 

means that a UK consortium is eligible to apply (i.e. the consortium does not involve any other EU partners). 

Could you please confirm/correct that my understanding is correct. 
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Answer 

Yes. 

For Coordination & Support Actions implemented under Horizon 2020, only one legal entity (minimum) is 

required to participate. 

 

 

39. Question 

Call S2R-OC-IP5-01-2015: Freight Automation on lines and in yards I think it is necessary to address the 2 

inderdependent workstreams but there is some confusion. So can you confirm that both work streams need to be 

carried out in one project? 

 

Answer 

Yes, that is correct. 

 

 

40. Question 

Should applicants specify their intention of involving other contributing entities, in their proposals? 

 

Answer 

Yes 

 

 

41. Question 

Are we correct that there is no limitation of budget (for example the call states 0.5 million) but that you have to 

make a clear budget and that it may exceed 0.5 million? 

 

Answer 

The Shift2Rail operates with a finite budget. 

Accordingly, the budgets indicated in the relevant calls should be considered as maximum values. 

 

 

42. Question 

If a project consists of 3 workstreams, each 0.5 million, but the 3rd workstream needs less budget, can you 

allocate the budget for project management and dissemination to that workstream? 

 

Answer 

It is up to the applicants to provide for this in their applications, as they deem most appropriate. 

 

 

43. Question 

We are a British-based company intending to work with several universities based in England and Scotland, 

with the aim of conducting work in the context of one of the S2R JU’s RIA actions. 

 

I am concerned that this would not meet the “3 associated countries” but am not sure I fully understand this. 

 

Answer 

The Horizon 2020 Rules for Participation provide that participation for research and innovation actions entails a 

minimum of 3 beneficiaries established in at least 3 different EU Member States and/or H2020 associated 

countries. The associated countries are listed here. 

 

As Scotland is not a sovereign state, it qualifies neither as an EU Member State nor as an associated country. 

 

http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/grants_manual/hi/3cpart/h2020-hi-list-ac_en.pdf
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44. Question 

Are Swiss entities eligible for funding and/or in-kind contribution? 

 

Answer 

Switzerland is a partial associated country to Horizon 2020. 

 

It participates from 15 September 2014 with an associated country status in actions under the "Excellent 

Science" pillar (the 1st pillar). 

 

This means that in actions under the Industrial Leadership and Societal Challenges pillars of Horizon 2020, 

Swiss participants are not automatically eligible for funding and will not count towards the minimum number of 

participants required for a project (eligibility criteria). And, as Shift2Rail Initiative falls under the Societal 

Challenges pillar of H2020, Swiss entities are not eligible for the participation in grants awarded and managed 

by the Shift2Rail Joint Undertaking. 

 

Additional information on Switzerland’s status is available here. 

 

45. Question 

Is there also a Q&A for the S2R-call or can we ask all of our questions by mail? 

 

Answer 

A specific S2R JU FAQ is available on the Research Participant Portal. 

 

46. Question 

Why has the S2R JU Governing Board amended the eligibility conditions in the Annual Work Plans? What 

impact does this have on my right to participate in the open and competitive calls? 

Answer 

The amendment aims to provide additional clarity regarding the eligibility conditions for the two different types 

of calls for proposals contained in the Annual Work Plans (calls for proposals for S2R JU members on the one 

hand, and open, competitive calls for proposals for non S2R JU members on the other hand), with a view to 

providing additional legal certainty for the award of grants following these calls. 

The amendment is a purely administrative reformulation and does not affect the conditions for participation for 

non-S2R JU members.  

The amendment merely confirms that the S2R JU members may only participate in the calls for proposals for 

S2R JU members, and may not participate in the open, competitive calls for non-S2R JU members. It further 

clarifies that the notion of 'S2R JU members' encompasses the affiliated entities of S2R JU members, as well as, 

for S2R JU members in the form of consortia, the constituent entities of these consortia (as listed here: 

http://www.shift2rail.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/List-of-S2R-JU-members.pdf) and their affiliated 

entities*.  

As a reminder, in order to participate in the open, competitive calls for proposals for non S2R JU members, 

applicants already had to confirm in the submission form that "each applicant is neither a member nor an 

affiliated entity of a member of the Shift2Rail Joint Undertaking other than the Union, in the sense of Article 

17(1)(a)(b) of the Statutes of the Joint Undertaking set out at Annex I of Council Regulation (EU) No 642/2014 

of 16 June 2014 establishing the Shift2Rail Joint Undertaking" in order to be eligible. Therefore, there is no 

impact on participation in the open, competitive calls for proposals for non S2R JU members. 

*As a reminder, the notion of affiliated entity is defined in the H2020 Rules for Participation (Regulation (EU) 

N° 1290/2013 of 11 December 2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council laying down the rules for 

participation and dissemination in "Horizon 2020 - the Framework Programme for Research and Innovation 

(2014-2020)" and repealing Regulation (EC) No 1906/2006).  

http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/other/hi/h2020-hi-swiss-part_en.pdf
http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/home.html
http://www.shift2rail.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/List-of-S2R-JU-members.pdf
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In this sense, an affiliated entity means any legal entity that is under the direct or indirect control of a member/ 

beneficiary, or under the same direct or indirect control as the member / beneficiary, or that is directly or 

indirectly controlling a member/ beneficiary (i.e. parent companies or holdings and their daughter companies or 

subsidiaries and vice-versa, but also the case of affiliates between themselves (e.g. entities controlled by the 

same entity). The control may take in particular either of the following forms:   

o the direct or indirect holding of more than 50% of the nominal value of the issued share capital in 

the legal entity concerned, or of a majority of the voting rights of the shareholders or associates of 

that entity or 

o the direct or indirect holding, in fact or in law, of decision-making powers in the legal entity 

concerned. 

However, the following relationships between legal entities do not constitute control relationships: 

o the same public investment corporation, institutional investor or venture-capital company has a 

direct or indirect holding of more than 50% of the nominal value of the issued share capital or a 

majority of voting rights of the shareholders or associates; 

o the legal entities concerned are owned or supervised by the same public body. 

47. Question 

We are interested in S2R-OC-CCA-04-2015 Safer infrastructure – improved object detection and prevention of 

safety critical events and integrated mobility. Is it possible to find out which founding members and associated 

members are already in that IP? 

Answer 

The information on the involvement of S2R members in the different Innovation Programmes (IPs) and Cross-

cutting activities (CCAs) should be made public as soon as the grant agreements stemming from the 2015 and 

2016 calls for proposals will be signed.  

 

48. Question 

We’ve read that there are 3 calls complementary 1. S2R-OC-IP5-03-2015: Intelligent freight wagon with 

predictive maintenance (1,5 million EUR) 2. S2R-OC-IP5-01-2015: Freight Automation on lines and in yards (1 

million EUR) 3. S2R-CFM-IP5-02-2015: Start-up activities for freight automation (1,6 million EUR). Are we 

correct the S2R-programme prefers to fund only one project that can address these 3 calls? 

 

Answer 

 

Indeed the topics above are complementary as highlighted in the S2R Annual Work Plan. However, S2R JU 

expects to fund up to 1 proposal for each of the topics mentioned in your question. Any successful open call 

consortium will be expected to cooperate and sign a collaboration agreement with a consortium of JU members 

working on the complementary topic. Such cooperation would ensure the complementarity and synchronicity of 

work that would be necessary to advance the objectives of the S2R programme.  

 

49. Question 

 

We are considering submitting a proposal for “S2R-OC-CCA-01-2015 Long-term needs of different actors in 

the railway sector”. Our query is regarding the time-spans for the scenarios: The call gives them as 2022, 2030 

and 2050. 

We wish to query if this should read 2020, 2030 and 2050? 
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Answer 

Yes, the time spans included in the S2R 2015 AWP for topic S2R-OC-CCA-01-2015 ‘Long-term needs of 

different actors in the railway sector’ are correct. Indeed the duration of the technical activities carried out in 

S2R may go beyond time horizon 2020. For further details, please see The Council Regulation (EU) No 

642/2014 of 16 June 2014 establishing the Shift2Rail Joint Undertaking available at http://eur-

lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32014R0642&from=EN   

 

50. Question 

 

I would like to kindly ask you to check and provide some clarifications in relation with the complementarities 

between the IP5 topics (CFM and OC). 

In particular, the call text indicates that the activities of the project to be funded in above topic IP5-03-2015 

shall be complementary with the activities of S2R-CFM-IP5-02-2015: Start-up activities for Freight 

Automation. 

However, the scopes of these 2 topics are quite different. The topic OC-IP5-03-2015 addresses 3 areas, i.e. 

cargo condition monitoring, lightweight wagon design and predictive maintenance, whilst the scope of the topic 

CFM-IP5-02-2015 is to automate the chain of processes, and develop and test an autonomous freight train and 

various automated processes. 

Meanwhile, another topic for S2R members, CFM-IP5-01-2015: Development of functional requirements for 

sustainable and attractive European rail freight, seems to have a specific challenge and scopes much closer to 

the topic OC-IP5-03-2015. Some of its scopes address similar areas as the open call IP5-03-2015, e.g.: 

“Specifications for the wagon will be developed, focusing on optimising aerodynamics and on lightweight 

design. The framework for condition based maintenance, real time yard management and automated train 

operation (ATO) will guide the desired actions to be taken.” etc. 

I need also to mention that the topic CFM-IP5-2-2015 is clearly complementary with the topic OC-IP5-01-2015: 

Freight Automation on lines and in yards is key. The call text, however, indicates that this OC is also 

complementary with the topic CFM-IP5-01-2015: Development of functional requirements for sustainable and 

attractive European rail freight.  

I am aware that there is already an Erratum for the topic OC-IP5-03-2015, therefore, I would like to better 

clarify this complementarity issue, particularly due to commonalities between OC-IP5-03 and CFM-IP5-01, 

which seem to not be considered by the actual call text. 

I would appreciate if you could confirm exactly which is/are the S2R-CFM-IP5 topics that are complementary 

to the OC-IP5-03. 

 

Answer 

Freight automation is an area including a number of processes and systems. Although the current topic in this 

area (S2R-CFM-IP5-02-2015) focuses on the start-up activities, it should be assumed that the work will develop 

up to full automation and driverless trains by taking advantage of automated systems, on-board units and ICT 

technologies. On the other hand, the call on intelligent wagon with predictive maintenance (S2R-OC-IP5-03-

2015) includes the development of a number of monitoring systems and on-board units, which in combination 

with ICT technologies and systems will provide important information for the overall operation of the train. This 

information and systems are considered as important input for the current and future activities of the automated 

trains, hence the complementarity of the actions. For example, the information on the condition of individual 

sub-systems, which is addressed under the “predictive maintenance” work-stream of the call S2R-OC-IP5-03-

2015, could be an important input for automated train operations, included in the call S2R-CFM-IP5-02-2015. 

  

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32014R0642&from=EN
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32014R0642&from=EN
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51. Question 

 

I work at Euskoiker in the project proposal and contract department. 

We would like you to clarify us and confirm if our understanding of the call for participation rules is right and 

we can participate to the open calls for shift2rail to avoid jeopardizing any ongoing consortium to answer and 

open call on IP2. 

Euskoiker is a member of the Basque Network for Science, Technology and Innovation – RCTVI (Innobasque), 

and of the Spanish Network for University-Company Foundations (RED FUE) and is listed as the Office for the 

Transfer of Research Results (OTRI in Spanish) of the Spanish State (OTRI website) 

Euskoiker, a non-profit organization. Its governors (founders) are the three Regional Governments of Bizkaia, 

Gipuzkoa and Araba, and the three Chambers of Commerce of Bilbao, Gipuzkoa and Araba and the University 

of the Basque Country. 

The University of the Basque Country / Euskal Herriko Unibertsitatea owns no more than 50% of Euskoiker  as 

it states in document attached. 

Its existence dates back to 1979 and over the course of more than thirty years it has managed numerous research 

projects, made strategic contacts and participated in several research presentation forums (FOROTECH, 

PROMA, TECNOVA). The Euskoiker foundation collaborates with different research groups in the areas of 

Humanities, social sciences, engineering and technologies, medical and natural sciences, under the agreement 

signed to this end with the university since 1995. Throughout this years we have collaborated with more than 

1500 companies, and the volume of projects that are processed per year is about 250, between research projects, 

consultancy and technical assistance, expert reports, training, etc… I2T Research Lab (www.i2t.ehu.es) 

collaborates with Euskoiker since 2004.   

The University of the Basque Country takes part in a consortium for IP3 (SwiTracken) . 

Nevertheless, c owns exactly 50% and  no more than 50% of Euskoiker. 

As it is stated in pg. 8 and 9 of the issued From proposal submission pdf   

Euskoiker cannot be understood as an affiliated entity. 

 

Answer 

The Horizon 2020 Rules for participation define a notion of control as (inter alia) “the direct or indirect holding 

of more than 50 % of the nominal value of the issued share capital in the legal entity concerned, or of a majority 

of the voting rights of the shareholders or associates of that entity”. Accordingly, if the University of the Basque 

Country’s stake in Euskoiker is not greater than the prescribed threshold, Euskoiker cannot be considered an 

affiliated entity of Euskal Herriko Unibertsitatea, under Article 8(2)(a) of the rules in question. 

 

This being said please keep in mind that the notion of control may manifest itself in other manners, as described 

in the other sub-paragraph of article 8(2)(b): “the direct or indirect holding, in fact or in law, of decision making 

powers in the legal entity concerned.” If such notion of control is applicable to the University of the Basque 

Country’s stake in Euskoiker, then Euskoker would be considered an affiliated entity of Euskal Herriko 

Unibertsitatea. 

 

52. Question 

We, Hit Rail B.V. from Utrecht in The Netherlands, are participating in a consortium that intends to file a 

proposal under the S2R–OC-IP4–O2-2016 IF Converters open call. 

This morning, during a conference call with our consortium members, we were informed that we  could not 

further participate in the consortium relating to the above call because Hit Rail is considered to be an affiliated 

entity of S2R JU member Société Nationale des Chemins de Fer Français Mobilités (SNCF Mobilités). Please 

refer to the enclosed letter (letter Keir Fitch Interim Executive Director Shift2 Rail  Joint Undertaking) that was 

presented to us in that respect this morning. 

 

http://www.i2t.ehu.es/
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SNCF is one of our shareholders and owns 9.52% in the issued and subscribed capital of our company and has 

an equal percentage in the shareholder voting rights. The question is whether this makes us an affiliated entity of 

SNCF because they are far from being a majority shareholder in our company.  

 

You will appreciate that we started to search in the EU websites and came across the attached 

document:  Shift2Rail Joint Undertaking/ Call for expression of interest to become associated member of the 

S2R JU/Frequently Asked Questions - UPDATE 04/11/2014. This document has been enclosed with this 

message for your easy reference. The answer to question 10 on page 5 of this document: What is an affiliated 

entity seems to confirm that we, Hit Rail B.V., are not an affiliated entity of SNCF. A partial quote of the 

answer to the question: 

 

An affiliated entity is defined as any legal entity that is under the direct or indirect control of a member/ 

beneficiary, or under the same direct or indirect control as the member / beneficiary, or that is directly or 

indirectly controlling a member/ beneficiary (i.e. parent companies or holdings and their daughter companies or 

subsidiaries and vice-versa, but also the case of affiliates between themselves (e.g. entities controlled by the 

same entity). 

The control may take in particular either of the following forms: 

 

 the direct or indirect holding of more than 50%  of the nominal value of the issued share capital in the 

legal entity concerned, or of a majority of the voting rights of the shareholders or associates of that 

entity or 

 the direct or indirect holding, in fact or in law, of decision-making powers in the legal entity concerned. 

 would you be so kind to confirm to us that we indeed are not an affiliated entity of SNCF and that we 

are free to participate in the above call. 

 

Answer 

 

Based on the information you’ve provided, it appears that Hitrail does not in fact bear the characteristics of an 

affiliated entity, in the sense of Article 2(1)(2) of the Horizon 2020 Rules for Participation. 

Indeed, a 9,52 % shareholding does not constitute control under Article 8(2) of those rules. 

Accordingly, the relationship between SNCF and Hitrail should not bar the latter from participation in open call 

S2R-OC-IP4-O2-2016 

 

53. Question 

Regarding OC IP2-02 - Virtual testing Environment, can you explain, if the topic is focused only on ERTMS or 

to any Control Command solution?  Can you also explain me if the certification procedures are expected to be 

included in the project results. 

 

Answer 

The topic refers to zero on-site testing of rail signalling solutions.  

While the certification procedures might be part of the broader challenge linked to this question, the expected 

works/deliverables of the project should be in line with the elements listed in the scope of the topic: 

 Develop the concept of virtualisation for holistic railway testing environments. The IT virtualisation 

capabilities should include communication systems, performance and processing tests reporting, Quality of 

Service (QoS) management, etc.;  

 Develop an IT virtualisation of hardware (HW) and software (SW) platform that allows deploying, 

integrating and testing of any legacy and future railway system:  
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 This platform should support the implementation of the railway system, whether in real form, 

virtually or simulated (depending of the availability and needs) and any combination of these 

alternatives;  

 This platform should be cloud-based to allow to have distributed locations. This platform should be 

open to existing and future systems (different operating systems, protocols, programing languages, 

etc.);  

 The IT virtualisation platform shall be generic and open to support the architecture for test 

environment and communication model. 

 Propose different scenarios (railway system combinations and configurations) that could be deployed at the 

same time but running separately (scenario by scenario);  

 Develop a demonstrator with the selected parts of the testing environment. 

 

54. Question 

What is the pre-financing amount for the S2R-RIA actions please (for a project of 36 months)? 

 

Answer 

 

The level of pre-financing is not pre-defined and in each action shall be determined according to:  

a) the activity/effort to be undertaken in the first reporting period of the action  

b) the length of the first reporting period and further reporting periods of the action  

c) availability of funds at the S2RJU through its annual budget;  

 

The rate of interim payments will depend on the above factors and will be discussed with the S2RJU once the 

proposal is successfully evaluated and the applicant is invited to enter the grant preparation stage.  

For more information on payments and payment arrangements, see Article 21 of the S2R Model Grant 

Agreement multi-beneficiary.  

 


